
CHATTANOOGA AREA REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 

& THE CHATTANOOGA PARKING AUTHORITY 

BOARD MEETING AGENDA 
March 20, 2025, 10:00 AM ET 

1. Call to Order

2. Quorum Call

3. Moment of Silence & Pledge of Allegiance

4. Public Comment

5. Recognitions

6. Adoption of Minutes (page 2) -A

7. Staff Updates

A. Incline Recovery: Director Matthew Higgins

B. Safety & Training: Chief Safety Officer Mark Logan

C. Communications & External Relations: Director Brandon Meredith

8. Consent Agenda

A. Statistical Report: Philip Pugliese (page 17) -I

9. Action Items:

A. Purchasing Policy - Update: Annie Powell (page 23) - A

B. Procurement Report: Annie Powell (page 44) - A

Budget Presentation: Charles Frazier, Scott Wilson, Annie Powell

C. FY 2026 DRAFT Capital Budget: Annie Powell (page 46) - A

D. FY 2026 DRAFT Operating Budget: Scott Wilson (page 49) - A

10.New Business

11.Old Business

12.Adjournment



CARTA Board Meeting Minutes 02.20.2025 

40002924v2 

MINUTES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING OF 

THE CHATTANOOGA AREA REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 

AND 

THE CHATTANOOGA PARKING AUTHORITY 

February 20, 2025 

The regular meeting of the Board of Directors of the Chattanooga Area Regional 

Transportation Authority (CARTA) and the Chattanooga Parking Authority was held Thursday, 

February 20, 2025, starting at 10:00 a.m., at the Board Building, 1617B Wilcox Blvd. Chattanooga, 

TN 37406. The meeting was held in accordance with Section 4, Paragraphs 1 and 2 of the 

ordinances creating the Authority and pursuant to the notice advertised in the Chattanooga 

Times Free Press on February 02, 2025. The following Board members were in attendance and 

constituted a quorum: Johan de Nysschen, Chairman; Evann Freeman, Vice Chairman; Charita 

Allen, Treasurer; Stephen Culp, Corey Evatt, and Bill Nye. The following persons were also in 

attendance: Charles Frazier, Chief Executive Officer; Sonja Sparks, Chief Financial Officer; Jeff 

Smith, Chief Operating Officer; Scott Wilson, Chief of Staff; Rachael Ruiz, Legal Counsel, Miller & 

Martin; Dena Franklin, Payroll & A/R Administrator; and various media and guests. Mr. de 

Nysschen called the meeting to order and declared a quorum present.  

2



 

 

CARTA Board Meeting Minutes 02.20.2025    

 

  

  

40002924v2 

Mr. de Nysschen  opened the meeting with a moment of silent reflection followed by Mr. 

Nye leading the Pledge of Allegiance. Mr. de Nysschen next opened the meeting for public 

comments or questions. There were none.  

Mr. de Nysschen called on Mr. Wilson to present the February 2025 Ambassador Award. 

Mr. Wilson recognized Nina Kirkpatrick, stating that on November 9th, 2024, Ms. Kirkpatrick 

demonstrated what it meant to be a public servant. While on duty as CARTA Go operator, Ms. 

Kirkpatrick notified dispatch of a passenger who had become unconscious and provided comfort 

until medical assistance arrived on scene.  

Mr. de Nysschen then stated that all members had been sent a copy of January 16, 2025, 

board meeting minutes and asked if there were any additions, corrections, or comments. There 

being none, a motion was made by Ms. Allen and seconded by Mr. Freeman, followed by a vote 

to approve the minutes. The motion was unanimously approved. 

Mr. de Nysschen called on Mr. Frazier to present the CEO report. Mr. Frazier provided an 

Incline Railway recovery update, stating that Railworks will complete the demolition phase the 

following week and then move to reconstruction. The first stage of reconstruction is cement work 

followed by ground preparation for the installation of timber to support the railroad ties. 

Mr. Frazier advised that the recovery project remains on schedule for a June 2025 re-opening 

date, replacement cable has been delivered, timber materials are in production, and rail 

components are readily available. 

3



 

 

CARTA Board Meeting Minutes 02.20.2025    

 

  

  

40002924v2 

While the Incline is closed for repairs, CARTA is taking the opportunity to implement the 

following improvements: (i) constructing new ADA accessible restrooms at the lower station, 

(ii) replacing fencing leading up from the lower station, and (iii) installing air conditioning units 

on the trains. Consolidating the improvements with the recovery work will avoid additional 

shutdowns later in the year.  

Mr. Frazier next reported that the Tennessee Department of Transportation (TDOT) has 

formally approved CARTA’s Safety and Security Certification Plan (SSCP) advising that the self-

certification document and process is one of the requirements of the Federal Transit 

Administration (FTA). CARTA has been working closely with Christopher Broach, State Safety 

Oversight Officer, to ensure compliance. 

Mr. Frazier reported securing, with the assistance of Ms. Powell, the following grant 

funding from the TDOT through their IMPROVE Transit Investment Grant Program: (i) four 

hundred five thousand dollars ($405,000) toward a  four hundred fifty thousand dollar ($450,000) 

Vehicle Safety Monitoring Technology project - eligible expenses include upgrades for onboard 

camera systems, telematics driving data collections systems, and collision avoidance technology 

to help reduce incidents and accidents; (ii) six hundred thousand dollars ($600,000) toward a 

seven hundred fifty thousand dollar ($750,000) engineering and design project for CARTA’s first-

ever mobility and innovation hub. 

4



 

 

CARTA Board Meeting Minutes 02.20.2025    

 

  

  

40002924v2 

Mr. Frazier next provided an update on the fixed route improvement strategy identified 

in the FY2025 Strategic Imperatives. The fixed route schedule and bus stop optimization analysis 

is complete. Data collected will provide the planning team with recommendations to improve 

efficiency. Recommendations are expected to be implemented during the fall service change 

taking place in August 2025. The assessment of CARTA’s fixed route dispatch operations center 

is complete which includes standardized training of dispatchers and supervisors, advanced 

CAD/AVL training, and preventive maintenance routines for onboard equipment. Corrective 

actions are underway and will improve safety for operators, on-time performance, and enhance 

service quality. Lastly, CARTA is working to address software, data, and configuration issues with 

the Intelligent Transportation System. Once complete, riders will have more accurate 

information though the GTFS feed and real-time bus tracker website. 

Mr. Evatt asked if the GTFS feed is being published now to which Mr. Frazier advised it is 

currently being reviewed by Clever Devices. Mr. Evatt then asked if the data would translate to 

other applications to which Mr. Frazier confirmed.  

Mr. Frazier reported providing District 7 Council Member Raquetta Dotley a windshield 

tour for her district in addition to implementing a new pilot program focused on driving economic 

impact on the Northshore in response to the Market Street Bridge renovation project expected 

to last 18 months.  

5



 

 

CARTA Board Meeting Minutes 02.20.2025    

 

  

  

40002924v2 

Mr. Culp asked for clarification on the policy for Shuttle stops to which Mr. Frazier advised 

that currently there is a soft policy on courtesy stops but staff will bring recommended changes 

to this policy later for Board review and approval. 

Lastly, Mr. Frazier introduced two (2) leadership team additions, Mark Logan, director of 

safety and training, and Jeanine McNulty, director of human resources. 

Under “Consent Agenda” Mr. de Nysschen asked if there were any comments or 

questions regarding the statistical or informational reports provided in the board packet sent 

electronically on February 14, 2025. Mr. Evatt expressed gratitude for the focus on improving IT 

and cautioned management to remain vigilant with rider engagement to ensure spring ridership 

increases as expected. Mr. de Nysschen then asked if there were any additional comments or 

questions regarding consent agenda items. There being none, a motion was made by Mr. Evatt 

and seconded by Mr. Culp followed by a vote to approve the Consent Agenda items as received, 

read, understood, and accepted. The motion was unanimously approved.  

Under “Action Items” Mr. de Nysschen called on Ms. Sparks to present the financial 

report. Ms. Sparks reported the following: (i) revenue for the month was five million eight 

hundred fifty-three thousand eight hundred seventy-six dollars ($5,853,876) compared to the 

budgeted two million two hundred fifty-seven thousand nine hundred seventy-eight dollars 

($2,257,978), (ii) transit revenues were over budget two million two thousand three hundred 

thirty-eight dollars ($2,002,338) from an increase in budget from FTA revenue generated by 

6



 

 

CARTA Board Meeting Minutes 02.20.2025    

 

  

  

40002924v2 

drawing down all remaining American Rescue Plan Act Funds (ARPA), (iii) Shuttle revenue was 

over budget eight hundred sixty-four thousand three hundred twenty-eight dollars ($864,328) 

from an increase FTA revenue generated by drawing down all remaining ARPA Funds, (iv) Incline 

revenues were under budget seven hundred eighty-nine thousand three hundred ninety-five 

dollars ($789,395) due to the temporary closing for repairs from the fire and FTA revenues, 

(v) Care-A-Van revenue was over budget one million five hundred thirty-five thousand three 

hundred one dollars ($1,535,301) from an increase FTA revenue generated by drawing down all 

remaining ARPA Funds, and (vi) expenses for the month were two million three hundred eighty-

five thousand six hundred seventy-five dollars ($2,385,675) compared to the budgeted two 

million four hundred five thousand eight hundred thirty-one dollars ($2,405,831). Mr. Sparks also 

noted that the January 2025 parking report was a simplified representative of the relationship 

with the parking and shuttle revenue and expense with qualified revenues and expenses 

presented in the format provided to the City of Chattanooga at year end. 

Mr. Culp asked if there will be any significant reductions in expenses as technological 

upgrades are completed to which Ms. Sparks replied. Mr. de Nysschen asked if there had been a 

forfeited revenue analysis for parking, to which Mr. Frazier responded that the requested 

analysis, in addition to a parking enforcement strategy will be provided at the April 2025 board 

meeting. 

7



40002924v2 

Mr. de Nysschen then asked if there were any additional comments or questions 

regarding the financial report. There being none, a motion was made by Mr. Freeman and 

seconded by Mr. Nye followed by a vote to approve. The motion was unanimously approved. 

Mr. de Nysschen asked Ms. Powell to present the procurement report. Ms. Powell advised 

that staff recommended that the Board approve the monthly procurement report that included 

sole source procurements and a report on emergency procurements as indicated.  

Sole Source procurements are as follows: (i) a sixty-seven thousand one hundred fifty 

dollar ($67,150) purchase from Acheson Foundry for one hundred fifty-eight (158) double-grove 

sheaves for the Incline Railway at four hundred twenty-five dollars ($425) per sheave and (ii) a 

three hundred thirty-eight thousand five hundred dollar ($338,500) purchase of a Karsan e-Just 

minibus with on-board security equipment vehicle tracking hardware for use on the downtown 

shuttle.  

Mr. de Nysschen asked for clarification on the immediate sheave need vs the total 

number needed and lifespan of the sheaves to which Ms. Powell replied the total number of 

sheaves needed for the Incline Railway track is two hundred thirty nine (239) with a life span of 

five (5) to thirty (30) years.  Ms. Powell also confirmed CARTA’s ownership of the sheave mold. 

Mr. de Nysschen asked for clarification on the number of accessible seats available for the 

minibus to which Ms. Powell confirmed one. Mr. de Nysschen then asked if data related to 

CARTA Board Meeting Minutes 02.20.2025 

8



40002924v2 

accessible seating was available to which Ms. Powell advised it was thought to be 

available. Ms. Powell will provide Mr. de Nysschen with an update. 

Ms. Powell next reported that CARTA is negotiating a contract for emergency repairs of 

the Incline Railway with Railworks Track Systems LLC for a not to exceed amount of nine hundred 

fifty thousand dollars ($950,000).  The contract is for time and materials to repair damage caused 

by the fire on December 7, 2024, which includes twenty-eight (28) spans of the buried trestle 

that rests on concrete piers and one or more spans of Trestle 1. The scope of work has been 

confirmed by CARTA’s third-party engineer, CSR Engineering. 

Mr. de Nysschen asked if there were any additional questions regarding Ms. Powell’s 

request. There being none, a motion was made by Mr. Nye and seconded by Mr. Evatt followed 

by a vote to approve. The item was unanimously approved. 

Mr. de Nysschen called on Mr. Wilson to present information on the Rider Advisory 

Committee. Mr. Wilson reported that staff recommended the Board approve the establishment 

of a Rider Advisory Committee to engage Fixed Route, CARTA GO, and Shuttle riders to facilitate 

two-way communication between CARTA and its riders.  

Mr. Evatt stated that the flexibility in meeting places and time for the Rider Advisory 

Committee is appropriate and appreciated. Mr. de Nysschen asked about duties of the 

committee’s chair to which Mr. Wilson stated there is a rough draft of support expectations 

currently. The chair and committee members will develop and finalize based on input from 

CARTA Board Meeting Minutes 02.20.2025 

9



CARTA Board Meeting Minutes 02.20.2025 

40002924v2 

community riders. Mr. Evatt volunteered to chair the committee. Ms. Allen requested 

clarification on the pass incentive for committee members to which Mr. Wilson confirmed it is  a 

thirty-one (31) day pass per meeting attended, up to four (4) passes per year. 

Mr. de Nysschen asked if there were any additional questions regarding Mr. Wilson’s 

request with Mr. Evatt assuming the board chair role. There being none, a motion was made by 

Ms. Allen and seconded by Mr. Culp followed by a vote to approve. Both items were unanimously 

approved. 

Under “New Business” Mr. de Nysschen asked Mr. Frazier to present the 2024 CEO year-

end review. CARTA’s 2024 Community Impact accomplishments included launching Read and 

Ride with the Chattanooga Public Library, facilitating over thirteen thousand (13,000) rides 

annually, partnering with Signal Centers and Dolly Parton’s Imagination Library to help boost 

children’s reading program with new DPIL themed bus wrap, contributing two thousand (2,000) 

pounds of food to the Chattanooga Area Food Bank for Share Your Christmas, partnering with 

AARP to provide free rides to polls whereby Election Day ridership increased by seventeen 

percent (17%), collecting critical supplies during the Gratefull event and delivering them to the 

Maclellan Shelter, and initiating windshield tours with elected officials to identify opportunities 

for improvement.  

CARTA’s 2024 Operational Improvement accomplishments included reorganizing 

business structure for future success, developing the first ever FY2025 Strategic Imperatives to 

10



CARTA Board Meeting Minutes 02.20.2025 

40002924v2 

guide the organization’s direction, establishing a framework to implement the twenty-four (24) 

key focus areas, creating a detailed S.W.O.T. analysis to help identify areas of improvement and 

potential risks, introducing Token Transit as a cashless payment option for CARTA riders, 

achieving a year-over-year increase in ridership across all services, implementing first-ever 

emergency protocol training for Incline Railway operations, and managing response to Incline 

Railway fire and initiated restoration efforts. 

CARTA also secured the following grant funding in 2024, (i) seven hundred eighty-seven 

thousand five hundred dollars ($787,500) for transit-oriented development planning for Brainerd 

Rd. and Lee Highway, (ii) a seven million seventy-thousand-dollar ($7,070,000) Department of 

Energy grant for sustainable transportation, and (iii) nine hundred eighty thousand dollars 

($980,000) from a state grant for fare technology modernizations. 

CARTA’s 2024 Economic Impacts included creating “First Hour Free” parking to stimulate 

the downtown economy, achieving a four-point three percent (4.3%) increase in fixed route and 

CARTA Go ridership, a nineteen point one percent (19.1%) increase in shuttle services, and the 

highest ridership in three (3) years for Care-A-Van services. 

CARTA’s 2024 challenges included limited funding sources and fiscal constraints, 

recruitment and retention of skilled personnel, the need for fare technology and infrastructure 

modernization, service quality improvements needed across fixed routes and paratransit, and 

11



CARTA Board Meeting Minutes 02.20.2025 

40002924v2 

addressing the negative historical reputation for poor on-time performance and customer 

service. 

CARTA intends to focus on the following priorities in 2025: (i) advancing Bus Rapid Transit 

(BRT) infrastructure, (ii) expanding access through community partnerships, (iii) strengthening 

organizational resilience, (iv) service quality improvements needed across fixed routes and 

paratransit, and (v) technology upgrades and safety protocols. 

Next Mr. de Nysschen and Mr. Frazier presented CARTA’s FY2026 Budget Priorities which 

consisted of four (4) focus areas and five (5) key commitments. Focus area one (1) was Core 

Business Excellence. Core business areas are as follows: (i) service delivery and safety through 

enhancing driver training programs, mitigating risk by developing comprehensive service policies 

and procedures, modernizing dispatch and communications mechanisms for quality 

improvement; (ii) service planning and efficiency by supporting financial sustainability through 

optimizing fare structures, improving schedule reliability and on-time performance, securing 

strategic locations for downtown transit center and mobility hubs; (iii) maintenance and 

infrastructure though improving vehicle reliability and maintenance programs, development of 

long-term vehicle transition strategies and enhancing facilities maintenance; (iv) technology and 

systems through implementing standardized IT infrastructure, integrated technology solutions 

development and creating data-driven performance tracking systems and (v) financial 

12



CARTA Board Meeting Minutes 02.20.2025 

40002924v2 

management through creating policies to insure long-term financial sustainability, strengthening 

compliance processes and expanding grant funding opportunities. 

Focus area two (2) was community and customer focus. CARTA will deepen engagement 

through customer amenities and feedback systems expansion, educational transit tours and 

community outreach programs, travel training enhancement and bilingual support services and 

testing new shuttle routes to serve emerging needs. 

Focus area three (3) was growth and innovation. CARTA will focus on the future by 

expanding services to drive economic impact, parking accessibility enhancement, growing 

ridership through improved customer experience and strategically plan for three to five (3-5) 

years of growth. 

Focus area four (4) was workforce development. CARTA will support the employees by 

extending supervision coverage across all service hours, adjusting wages to remain competitive, 

and enhance safety protocols and training. 

The five (5) key commitments for the FY2026 budget were as follows: (i) sustaining 

current service levels with no service reductions, (ii) exploring programs and investment 

opportunities with Hamilton County and other cities, (iii) utilizing the remaining American Rescue 

Plan Act (ARPA) funds to proactively navigate near-term fiscal challenges, (iv) modifying fares and 

fare policies to balance the budget and aggressively pursue Federal and State grants to leverage 

local investment. 

13



CARTA Board Meeting Minutes 02.20.2025 

40002924v2 

Mr. de Nysschen asked if there were any questions regarding the FY2026 Budget Priorities 

request. There being none, a motion was made by Mr. Culp and seconded by Mr. Freeman 

followed by a vote to approve. The item was unanimously approved. 

Mr. de Nysschen inquired if there were any other business items that need to be 

addressed. There being no further business, a motion was made to adjourn. The meeting was 

adjourned with an executive session to follow. 

14



CARTA Executive Committee 

Meeting Minutes 
Date: March 7, 2025

 Time: 1:00 PM - 5:37 PM

 Location: CARTA Offices, Tom Dugan Room

Attendees

Board Members Present:

Chair de Nysschen, Director Culp, Director Evatt, Secretary Reeves (arrived at 1:20 PM), 

Director Nye (arrived at 1:45 PM), Treasurer Allen (arrived at 2:25 PM), Director Sanderfur 
(arrived at 1:00 PM)

Staff Present:

Charles Frazier, CEO, Scott Wilson, Chief of Staff, Sonja Sparks, CFO, Jeff Smith, COO, 

Veronica Peebles, CAO, Annie Powell, Director of Procurement, Phil Pugliese, Director of 

Planning, Brandon Meredith, Director of Communications.

1. Welcome and Opening Remarks

Chair de Nysschen called the meeting to order at 1:00 PM and welcomed all attendees. Chief of 

Staff Wilson reviewed the agenda and the Monthly Safety Message of Fatigue Awareness. 

2. Quorum Call

A quorum was confirmed with all expected members present.

3. Purchasing Policy Update

Annie Powell, Director of Procurement, presented updates to the current purchasing policy. The 

committee discussed the proposed changes and noted that formal action would be required at 

the March board meeting.

4. Procurement Report

Ms. Powell provided the procurement report detailing recent and upcoming procurement 

activities. The committee reviewed the report and noted that formal action would be required at 

the March board meeting.

5. Planning Update

Phil Pugliese, Director of Planning, provided updates on the following projects:

• Bus Stop Optimization: Mr. Pugliese presented the current status of the bus stop

optimization project, including locations identified for improvements and timeline for

implementation.

15



• Fixed Route Schedule Analysis: The committee reviewed the analysis of current fixed

routes and discussed potential adjustments to improve efficiency and service.

• CARTA GO Update: Mr. Pugliese provided an update on the CARTA GO program,

including usage statistics and customer feedback.

• Department of Energy Grant Project: The committee was briefed on the progress of

projects funded by the Department of Energy grant, including timeline and budget

updates.

6. Open Discussion

The committee discussed the upcoming FY26 Capital and Operating Budget, which will require 

approval at the March board meeting. Various board members raised questions and provided 

input on budget priorities.

7. Executive Session

At approximately 4:00 PM, the committee entered executive session to conduct annual reviews 

for the Chief Financial Officer and Chief Executive Officer.

8. Resumption of Meeting

The committee resumed open session at approximately 5:30 PM.

Chair de Nysschen reported that the board was highly satisfied with the CEO's performance, 

noting he was highly aligned with the board's vision. The Chair specifically cited Mr. Frazier's 

work in outreach to the city and county.

Chair de Nysschen called for a vote to confirm payment of the CEO bonus per his employment 

contract. Director Culp moved to approve the payment, and Director Nye seconded the motion. 

The motion passed unanimously.

9. Adjournment

The meeting was adjourned at 5:37 PM.

16



��������	�
������������������������� ������������������	���� � � !�"�� #��$�%�#&�$������ � ����	�����#$��������'()*+,���������-	�	��	���$���%�	���!+,�""+./+/�0,�1�.�-	�������

����	��	�	������������%	������2���	�	��	���$��%�	����	���
��	���������3�4&�5�������������
�	����	��	�������6��71879187�':�0.09;'1'�0./�,�.,9('1�.'���	�$���
4�������&		$��������<����&	��������%����&%�==>��?��@��&�5������?���A�	��3�4&�5����B6���
4�������$�����5��C	�C��	������?���4�	A����������������B6����
��� D��������$�������$A�5��
������&	������?�����&��	��	�������
4�������?��	6���D�������������������%���
�%�?�����������	�%�����3�4&�56���D�����E�&����#���%�$�	�%���
�%�?�������?����	���$�?�����	�?��%�	���%��	��	�F����G==�	�%��	��&���	���A��F�������������B������6��� D�H&���F��������	���4�$�����F�	�����%%$���	��������GBI�&��J&���&�	�
���A�����?��%&����������IK�%������	��&���3�4&�5������6���

LMLLLLNLLLLOLLLLPLLLLQLLLLLQMLLLLQNLLLL RSTUVWX�YZ[\Y]VẐ_̀_ab�cdefg _̀_ab�hij__bf k̀lmdnfg

17



����������
18



��������	�
	�������	�������	�����	��������	�����������	������
��

�

�� ��  � !� !� !� "� #� #� "� "� !� "�$!� $!� $ � $%� %�� %�� $#� $"� $!� $#� $$� %�� %�� &�   �  �� &"� &&� & � &#� &"� &$� &#� &!� &&� &��
'�%'�$'�#'�"'�
!'� '�&'��'��'�

()*+$",-.+$"/0.+$",-1+$"234+$" 235+$" /36+$"7)0+$" 89:+$";<=+$">)9+$" 2-4+$! ()*+$!
%#+,<4:?�84�@AB)�C).D<.B-49)
��E/FGH ��G/@E ��8;�@I,E @/FJE@

'%'''$'''#'''"'''!'''
 '''

�'��!��'��!�
%''�

%+89: %+;<= %+>)9 %+2-4 %+()*
K-.)+-+L-484�@AB)�C).D<.B-49)

8@C�CA9M+N0 8@C�>.<0�8DD FAO).P?A0
19



This Month
Month YR 

Ago YTD Prior YTD

TRANSIT

Ridership 76,260 77,872 640,682 637,131 
   Weekday Average  - with Mocs 3,272 3,189 3,221 3,183 
   Weekday Average  - without Mocs 3,051 3,152 3,046 3,076 
   Saturday Average 2,012 1,963 1,994 2,057 
   Sunday Average 691 765 742 778 
Miles 147,874 160,158 1,244,917 1,261,511 
Passengers/Mile 0.52                0.49                0.51 0.51               
Accidents 0 2 14 13 
Operating Cost/Rider N/A 9.94                N/A 9.89               

SHUTTLE

Ridership 20,991 20,501 199,888 174,357 
   Weekday Average 797 776 870 750 
   Saturday Average 857 667 965 851 
   Sunday Average 408 386 515 468 
Miles 16,186 16,571 137,106 131,230 
Passengers/Mile 1.30                1.24                1.46 1.33               
Accidents 0 0 1 5 
Operating Cost/Rider N/A 3.39                N/A 3.36               

INCLINE

Ridership 0 15,424 231,998 313,351
Net Revenue/Passenger N/A (1.78)              3.03            2.69               
Days Down 28 1 99 4 

CARE-A-VAN

Ridership 4,895 4,605 38,645 34,364 
Miles 52,360 51,336 455,172 394,959 
Turndowns 0 5 0 14 
Accidents 1 2 3 5 
Operating Cost/Rider N/A 46.02              N/A 48.16             
Passengers/Hour 1.53                1.32                1.43            1.27               

TOTAL CARTA

Ridership 102,146 118,402 1,111,213 1,159,203 

* Notes to the Statistical Report:

           North Shore Shuttle 2,532 1,806 22,156 17,678
           MOCS Express 4,424 776 29,777 18,100
           Bicycles Carried 1,418 1,417 11,856 12,431

898 1,196 8,371 9,601
2,282 1,864 19,739 16,352

20 21
4 4
4 4

28 29

0 20
0 4
0 4
0 28

Chattanooga Area Regional Transportation Authority

Statistical Report

For the Period Ending February 28,  2025

    Days of Operation  Incline
           Number of Weekdays
           Number of Saturdays

           Number of Sundays

           Wheelchairs Carried

           Number of Sundays
           Number of Saturdays
           Number of Weekdays

 Days of Operation Transit, Shuttle, Care-A-Van

           St.Elmo/Incline

20



Feb-23 Feb-24 Feb-25

Route 1-Alton Park 9,853 8,616 8,193
Route 3-Enterprise South 845 856 640
Route 4-Eastgate/Hamilton Place 24,501 29,507 28,666
Route 5 + 6 - E+N Brainerd / CARTAGO 3,821 5,135 5,258
Route 9-East Lake 6,866 7,820 6,087
Route 10-Avondale/Campbell St/Glenwood 9,188 9,794 6,344
Route 13-Rossville 3,248 3,695 3,902
Route 14 MOCS Express 2,702 776 4,424
Route 16-Northgate 4,814 5,159 5,256
Route 21-Golden Gateway 4,687 5,493 6,495
Route 28-Chattanooga State 975 1,021 995

Totals: 71,500 77,872 76,260

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

35,000

Year to Year comparison of ridership by route February 2023/February 2024/February 2025

Feb-23 Feb-24 Feb-25

21



Difference 
2024/2023

Difference 
2025/2024

Route 1-Alton Park -1,237 -423
Route 3-Enterprise South 11 -216
Route 4-Eastgate/Hamilton Place 5,006 -841
Route 5 + 6 - E+N Brainerd / CARTAGO 1,314 123
Route 9-East Lake 954 -1,733
Route 10-Avondale/Campbell St/Glenwood 606 -3,450
Route 13-Rossville 447 207
Route 14 MOCS Express -1,926 3,648
Route 16-Northgate 345 97
Route 21-Golden Gateway 806 1,002
Route 28-Chattanooga State 46 -26

-4,000

-3,000

-2,000

-1,000

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000
Year to Year comparison of ridership by route

Difference February 2024/February 2023 - February 2025/February 2024

Difference 2024/2023 Difference 2025/2024

22



����������	
�	�����	��	��	���			 �����	�����	��	���������		 	 ���� ��!�	���������		"#�$�	 �����	%�&�''		 	 ��������	��	(�����	)	%��� ������		*+,-./��							�00��!�'	��	10�����	% �������2	%�'��3			#./�$$.45.5	6/�7�4	8����	����������	����	���	�����	�00��!�	�����9�	% �������2	%�'��3	�������!�	�����	��	��:			6;7<4$.4�	=7�>	*�#6�.<7/	<�6;*	����	������	�'�2��	&���	�����9�	������2��	��0�����!��	��	���0'�����	���	�����0�����3:		*+$$6#?	�"	4..5	�00��!�'	��	����	����	&�''	�''�&	�����	��	�����''3	���0�	���	����	������	!������	��	���	0 �������2	0�'��3�	&����	�����0������	���������������	����	���	���3	��	���������2�	��	&�''	��	���	@�����'	�������	��������������	A@��B9�	 0�����	��	@��	���� '��	C�:D(�	�����	%���3	����������2	( ������:	�����9�	������	0 �������2	0�'��3	���	E�	�� ��	����:		@�''�&��2	���	0��� ������	� ����	���	���3	��	���������2�	F�����	��	G������'	� ���	0��!����	���	��''�&��2	���������������H		 D:	%��!����2	�������2	��	���	0��� ������	0�'�����	��	�''	�����	���0����E'�	���	0 �������2	2����	���	���!����	���	���	��2���I�����:	:	%��!����2	���J ���	� 00�����2	��� ���������	��	���� ���	0�3�E'�	��	��� ��	��!�����2	�������	���	�2����	 0��	0�����2:		K:	F �'����2	�00��0�����	�����0'����3	������	&���	0�'�����	���	!��'����:		C:	FE������2	���	��� ������2	J ����	���	E'��L��	0 ������	������	����	���' ��	�����'��	0�����2	A���	' �0	� �B:	�:	���'3I�	���	�����E�'��3	��	�����0������2	���	0��� ������	��� '�	��	0���	��	�����9�	 02����	��	F���'�	M��� ���	��������'	�3����	��	����2�����2	�������2	����&���	&���	M��� ���:	N:	%��������''3	� �����2	���	�������'��2	0�3�����	��	0 ������	������:	O:	G�0'�������2	�	0����� ��	��	��� ��	���0�����!�	E���	���	�E������	���	0 �������	��	2����	��	���!����	����	������	P������	��� �''3:		Q:	G�0'�������2	�	0����� ��	��	�����!�	�����	�00��!�'	��	0��� ��	2����	���	���!����	 ���2	���	��J ���	���	%��0���'�	������	���	��	�&���	���	���0����E'�	���0������:		
:	��0�����2	��'�	�� ���	��	0��0������3	0��� �������	��	�����9�	�����	��	����	��	0����E'�:		D�:	10�����2	0 �������2	0�'��3	��	��� ��	���0'�����	&���	8����	'�&�	2�!�����2	0��� �������:			���	�0������	����2��	��	���	0�'��3	���	��	��''�&�H		 R	%�2�	O�	% �0���H	 0�����2	@��	������'	���� '��	���	�����2	���0'�����	&���	� ����0�'	% ������	S�&	��	D
QN	A���������	����	���������	A���B	NT�NTK�DTK�O	���	���	���'�	D	��	 0�����U	��������	��	�����0'����3	������	A���������������	K	���	D�	�E�!�B	R	%�2��	OTD��	�����������H	 0�����2	�����������	��	E�	����������	&���	@��9�	���� '��	C�:D(	R	%�2�	DK�	KTC�	QH	 0�����2	���0����E�'�����	��	���'���	��2���I������'	 0�����	R	%�2�	DCH	 0�����	��	�����	� �����I��	��	��2�	0 ������	��J ��������	
23



���������	�
�������������������
�������������
�������������
�������������������
����������������
����������
���������������������������� 
����
������!�������� ��
�����������"��������������#����������!�$���������%	�
����� ����&'(�����
����#))�*�+��������� ,���� ��������������� ��������,�
�������������������)-	�
�������.�/
��� �������������������
���������
�����/
�����������!��� �������0������ �1��������"��������������-����!�$��������)2	�
���������  �����������!��
�����������
�������������	�
������������
������������������ ��3���������0������ �1��������"�������������������!�$����������	�
��������������
����������
����"��������������2����!�$���������#	�
�������������������
�������������	�
���������������������������������
���������
����������
��������������
���������/
�������������"���������������)�����%����!�$���������-	�
��������0������ �1�������������������!��������������������� �!��������"
������4(.'(�������������� �������������������������������� �!��������5�&'(�������������3�!������������������������������ �!�������$���������#�	�
���������!��
���������������
������(���������	�4(.'(�����
�����������������
����������������������������������������
����6��������
������������������������������!���������0������ �1������������������ ���  �3����������������������������3����������������������!�*�4(.'(������
������!��
������ ����������� ��������������������!�*�4(.'(����������!���������3���7��
��������� ����������� �����������4(.'(8�����������������3���������
������������� ��
��������������������!���������3������������������3����������*�4(.'(�����������!������������ ����������� ���������������������������
���������!�����������!����3�����7��
����
��������3��  ����������3������/
���� 
�������!��������������
����������4(.'(8�������*���9:;<=>?@AB�:AB�CDEF?>G�6��&���
��������)�)#�����0������ �1�������������!���4(.'(8���
�����������������������!����H
������)�)�*��6��I�����)%��)�)#���������� �4���������6  ����� �J�������(
���������������������� �������3���4(.'(� �������
���� �4(.'(8������
�������������*�'����������� �����
�������
���	�� ���������������
�!�����������'����������4����
�������������.������������4(.'(������������������� ������� �����
������������7�!��������������������������������� ����3���������������������������
������.������������ ���
����
��������0������ �1�����������������������
���	�0����������!���� ���������
��������!���K��������0����������!���� ����
���� ����.�/
��� ���������������������������������0�������������������
��������
��������������������������������������������������
������*�L������������
����������������������/
����� ���4(.'(��� 
�������������������������������������� ��������
��*����M>?;@>NONAF�?PN>PDNQ�7R(��SDE;:T�DOM:;F�7R(��
24



��������	
	���	��������

25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36

DenaFranklin
Highlight



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



��������	�
������������������������ ��������������������	����� � ������ !��"	�#����

�		����$%�&�� ������'�(�))�� � �����	������*���	������'���"��
��	��+,-./0���������'���"��
��	���1��	���%/0�&&/23/3�40�5�2�6	��������

����	��	�	����������11��#��	�����))�(������7"��	����)�	���	��1���"��
��	8��11��#�)����1���"��
��	��"�����6��	�������"	����9���	��������� !��"	�#��:�������	����	������	���	��(�	������

������#������8���� �8��������11��#�)����;�(�'���"��
��	���#���<�������=8����)���� �����������6��#�����>���	��)�?���7"��	��������#�@A���������
��	�(�	���6�� ���������������8���������	�	���!������
�"�	����<���������������������������#���������	������)�������)(�A�	�����)"������1��	��������	���B��	���	)����C"�����	���	)�����"����	�
C�����	���������C�����(�	���1���	�����	�������(�))��������D����	����B������E��1�������	���������(�������������	���	�1��1���	����E�������
����	��	�#�����#������"���������	���	���
����	��	���������	�"�	�������1��	�������������	�"�	����
�����
��	��>�'���"��
��	��	���?���7"��	�����'��1���)������1����������)����#��������	���	��F����B����	��	���G�H�	����
�	������7"�����	��	�1��1���)��C���#�)"�	��������(����C���������#�)"�	�������	�����	��	��������	����)"���1������E�1������������#��(��������������C)���������������")	��	����#��C������)��	����>�;"
C������'��1���)����	"����?=��>����
�������	���	?���#��A�������8��������11��#�)����	���I������	�����7"��	�����'��1���)��'�������6	������7"��	���11��#�)�����	�����))�(����1���"��
��	��	��"	�)�9��	�����7"��	�����'��1���)��1������8������"����	����1�����(��B�����	�����1���"��
��	����7"�����	��	��#�)"�	�������	������	����	����1�����C�������������(�����(����������	���	������	��������#����J�=8�:�@��	����))��	����6��#�����������"�������)����)����	�����8�:�@��	���:��'�A����)��K8�*��1����������������A1���		����L8�6��"��	A�*"����6��#������ �8���1��	����6�)��6�"����'���"��
��	��;J��� �8���1��	���� 
������A�'���"��
��	��;J���4M5N2&/2��O5�P�+�%4�/N50�N�4M+��������	�����)�����(�	�������Q���	��	������
1���	�#������R����)�����"�	�C�)�	A�������
1)�����8���+,&&4%S��$�2//3��11��#�)����	�����	�
�(�))��))�(�������	����	��������
��	������	����C�#���	�
��=8��
44



��������	
���
��������������������������������� ��!"#$"�%&'�(�&)�*+��,�&�-�)&��'../�'(&���(���-&.0�+&��1�1��2 +, ��-�'�.+- �(�)&��'.�30+(�.+��-�&��� ��,&���',�+�3�'0� &�+�/�&)�� ��! +�)�45�,0�+6���))+,���7!4�8�'�(�� ��! +�)�9+�'�,+'.��))+,���7!9�8:�"���&6'.�&)�� +-���-&.0�+&��-���� ��- &.(-�)&��,&���',���5�,0�+&��'0� &�+�/�'��;<������)&��� ��!4��'�(�!9�:�"�/���'�-',�+&�-�'�&6��;<������2+..���=0+���'���&6'.�&)�� ��%&'�(�&)�*+��,�&�-:�$ +-�>�&,0�������#��&���&��'��0�('��(�6��-+&��� ���&)�2+..�������-����(��&�� ��%&'�(�&)�*+��,�&�-�)&��'���&6'.�&)�'�/�,&���',�-�� '�������� +-�� ��- &.(:���90�� ����!"#$"���,�+6�(���,&����('�+&�-�)�&����,����'0(+�-�+�(+,'�+�3�� '��� ��%&'�(�&)�*+��,�&�-�- &0.(�'.-&�'���&6��� ��0-��&)�� ��#�=0�-��)&��>�&�&-'.���&,�--�+�-��'(�&)�'�-�'.�(��+(���&,�--�'�(�� '��!"#$"�-�'))�- &0.(����&���&��'�/�-&.��-&0�,��'�(�����3��,/���&,0������-�� '���'?���.',�����2�����', �%&'�(�����+�3:�"-����&���(�+�����6+&0-�����+�3-��� �-��+���-� '6�������'((�(��&�� ��>�&,0�������#��&���'-�'�����.'���'�(�2+..�������&���(�+��)0�0���%&'�(�����+�3-:����@���	�ABA
���CA�CAD�"�:�E�,.+���4�3+����+�3����6+,�-�F����G'�0'�/��������<�!"#$"���.�'-�(�'�)&��'.�#�=0�-��)&��>�&�&-'.-�7#9>8�)&��E�,.+���4�3+����+�3����6+,�-:�!"#$"�'(6���+-�(�� +-���&,0�������+��� ��! '��'�&&3'H$+��-�9����>��--�'�(�+�,.0(�(�'�.+�?��&�� ��#9>�&��!"#$"I-�2��-+���'�(�-����� ��#9>��&��2&�)+��-:�!"#$"�'.-&���&6+(�(�� ��#9>��&�� ��%0+.(��-�45, '�3��&)�$����--���'�(�*�.��?�>0�.+,�#�,&�(-��'�3&6��������,&���',�+�3�-+��:�*0�+�3�� ��.'-����&,0��������� ����2'-�'.-&�&�./�&�����&�&-'.���,�+6�(��'�(�!"#$"�(&�-��&����.+�6��+��,&0.(� '6��(&���'�/� +�3�)0�� ����&�,'0-��'�-�,&�(���&�&-'.��&������,�+6�(:�$ ��0�+=0���'�0���&)�� ��E�,.+���#'+.2'/��&-��.+?�./���&����(�&� ���)+��-��&���&�-0��+��'���&�&-'.��F�!�#�4�3+����+�3� '-�2&�?�(�2+� �!"#$"�)&���'�/�/�'�-:�$ �+����&�&-'.�(��&�-��'��(�� ��=0'.+)+,'�+&�-���5���+��,��'�(�-0))+,+����-�'))�)&��� ��2&�?�&0�.+��(�+��� ��#9>:�!"#$"� '-� '(�(+��,���5���+��,��&)�� �+���'-����,&�(�&)����)&��'�,����.'��(��&�+�-��,�+&�-�'�(�����'�'�+&��&)��+(�(&,0����-�)&�����(�(�2&�?:����J���K�B@����$ ��)+-,'.�+��',��&)�� +-�',�+&��+-�.+-��(���.&2L��"�:�E�,.+���4�3+����+�3����6+,�-�M�!�#�4�3+����+�3��F�N&0�./��'��-�)&��E�,.+�����3+����+�3�-��6+,�-�2������&6+(�(��/�!�#�4�3+����+�3�)&��6'�+&0-��&-+�+&�-:�$ ���&�� &0�./��'���)&�����<H1�+-�;�<������ &0��)&����+�,+�'.���3+����:�$ +-�+-�,&�-+-�����2+� ��5+-�+�3���+,+�3���&6+(�(��/�!�#�4�3+����+�3�'�(�+-�.�--�+��,&��'�+-&���&�� ��'�, +��,�0�'.�'�(���3+����+�3���+,����&�&-'.-�� '�� '6���������,�+6�(���,���./�)&��� ���.'��+�3�-��6+,�-�,&���',�-�2 ����� ���&�� &0�./��'���)&��-+�+.'���&-+�+&�-�2'-�;O�<����� &0��)&��'�-+�+.'���&-+�+&��7��3+�����EE8:�"-� &0�./��'��-�'���.&2���� '��!"#$"� '-���,�+6�(�)&��'�-+�+.'���&-+�+&���!"#$"�,&�-+(��-�� �+����+,+�3��&����)'+��'�(���'-&�'�.�:��F�4-�+�'��(�,&-�-�)&����3+����+�3�-��6+,�-�'���'���&5+�'��./�;<������)&��'��'6��'3��/�'�:�P�&��'���&6'.��!"#$"�2+..�������+��&�'��&�H�&H�5,��(�,&���',��'�&0���&)�;�<������&6���� ��)+6�H/�'�����+&(:�!"#$"�2+..�0�+.+Q����,�+&��<OOR�'�(���,�+&��<O�R�)0�(-�)�&��� ��9�(��'.�$�'�-+��"(�+�+-��'�+&�:�9$"���&6+(�-�S�T�&)�� ��,&-�-��'�(�!"#$"���&6+(�-���T�� �&03 �+�-�.&,'.�,'�+�'.��0(3���'�(���T�� �&03 �'��'..&,'�+&��)�&��� ��$����--���*��'�������&)�$�'�-�&��'�+&�:������A�@����@���
��"�:�E�,.+���4�3+����+�3����6+,�-L�"�*%4�3&'.�2'-��&��'��.+�(��&�� +-�,&���',�:�
45



Agenda Item 9C
March 20, 2025 

TO: CARTA Board of Directors 
Executive Committee 

FROM: Annie Powell 
Director of Grants and Procurement 

SUBJECT:       Approval of Fiscal Year (FY) 2026 Capital Budget 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 
Staff recommends that the Board approve the preliminary capital budget for fiscal year 2026. 

ALIGNMENT WITH STRATEGIC GOALS 
This action aligns with CARTA’s strategic imperatives of Fiscal Accountability and Transparency. 

SUMMARY OF NEED 
Approval of this item will allow CARTA to formally submit a preliminary capital budget for FY 2026 to 
local funding partners. 

BACKGROUND AND HISTORY 
A preliminary capital budget has been developed, identifying funded capital projects for FY 2026 of 
$14,152,644 and unfunded capital projects in the amount of $43,425,446. CARTA intends to submit a 
request for $2,856,936 to the city of Chattanooga for 10% of the unfunded FY 2026 capital needs with a 
request for commitment of approximately $1,800,000 for FY 27 if CARTA is awarded a $14 million grant 
for the replacement of electric shuttle buses. CARTA has also submitted a request to Hamilton County for 
$620,000 for 10% local match for specific unfunded capital needs. For fiscal years 2027-2030, CARTA has
budgeted $28,064,203 total, and approximately $5,800,000 of that amount is projected to be funded. 

PROCUREMENT OVERVIEW 
N/A 

FISCAL IMPACT 
CARTA has budgeted $14,152,644 in funded capital projects for FY 2026 and will develop competitive
grant applications for unfunded capital projects in the amount of $43,425,446.  

DBE PARTICIPATION 
N/A 

46



 2026-2030 Capital Budget

Item Department Project Funding Allocated 2026 Remaining Needed 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 Total Remaining Needed Notes

Administration Painting Administration Offices 50,000 - 50,000          - - - - 50,000          - 

Administration Recarpeting Administration Offices 75,000 - 75,000          - - - - 75,000          - 

Administration Support Vehicles Replacement 75,000 - 75,000          35,000          40,000          40,000          40,000            230,000        155,000 

Administration Website Redesign 40,000 - 40,000          - - - - 40,000          - 

Care-A-Van/CARTA GO 12th Street Call Center Communications Equipment 75,000 - 75,000          - - - - 75,000          - 

Care-A-Van/CARTA GO Generator 100,000 - 100,000        - - - - 100,000        - 

Care-A-Van/CARTA GO Paratransit and CARTA Go Vehicle Replacement (21 Vehicles)
399,333 2,330,667 2,730,000     200,000        200,000        200,000        200,000         3,530,000     3,130,667 

competitive grant opportunity; 369,920 for electric 

replacements

Care-A-Van/CARTA GO Radio Base Stations for Care-A-Van and Shuttle Park South 20,000 80,000 100,000        - - - - 100,000        80,000 

Care-A-Van/CARTA GO Vehicles - Expansion - 780,000 780,000        780,000        780,000 

Facilities Architectural/Engineering Services 250,000 - 250,000        50,000          50,000          50,000          50,000            450,000        200,000 

Facilities Flooring - Epoxy Bus Barn and Shop - - 300,000        - - - 300,000        300,000 

Facilities HVAC Replacement at Board Building 400,000 400,000        - - - - 400,000        400,000 

Facilities Replace Security Cameras 208,530 - 208,530        208,530        208,530        208,530        208,530         1,042,650     834,120 

Facilities State of Good Repair 18,272 281,728 300,000        300,000        350,000        350,000        350,000         1,650,000     1,631,728 

Fixed Route Automatic Passenger Counting Reporting Software 67,389 67,389          43,742          45,801          - - 156,932        156,932 

Fixed Route Bus (2) - Articulated for Eastgate/Hamilton Place Route - 2,800,000 2,800,000     - - - 2,800,000     2,800,000 Low-No/Bus grant opportunity

Fixed Route Bus Shelter Technology - 150,000 150,000        150,000        150,000        150,000        150,000         750,000        750,000 

Fixed Route Bus Shelters (50) 68,445 244,555 313,000        313,000        313,000        313,000        313,000         1,565,000     1,496,555 

Fixed Route Bus Signs (1,000) - 75,000 75,000          25,000          25,000          25,000          25,000            175,000        175,000 

Fixed Route Fare Technology Replacement
1,380,272 1,019,728 2,400,000     - - - - 2,400,000     1,019,728 

pending Title VI analysis for cash free on buses; budget 

assumes replacing fareboxes currently

Fixed Route Handheld Radio Chargers for Supervisor Vehicles 40,000 - 40,000          - - - - 40,000          - 

Fixed Route Infrastructure for Electric Bus Transition - 6,975,000 6,975,000     - - - - 6,975,000     6,975,000 Low-No/Bus grant opportunity

Fixed Route Install of Inductive Chargers at 2 locations - - - 400,000        - - - 400,000        400,000 

Fixed Route Mobility Hubs - 500,000 500,000        500,000        250,000        250,000        500,000         2,000,000     2,000,000 competitive grant opportunity

Fixed Route Operational Dashboard Software 55,300 55,300          45,300          45,300          - - 145,900        145,900 

Fixed Route Operations Management Software - - 430,000        - - - 430,000        430,000 

Fixed Route Purchase of Inductive Chargers for 2 locations - - - 1,048,100     - - - 1,048,100     1,048,100 

Fixed Route Radio Console for Dispatch - 200,000 200,000        - - - - 200,000        200,000 

Fixed Route Real Estate - 1,800,000 1,800,000     200,000        200,000        200,000        200,000         2,600,000     2,600,000 

Fixed Route Replacement Electric Bus Batteries - - - - - 500,000        500,000         1,000,000     1,000,000 

Fixed Route Vehicle Replacement
7,749,722 7,800,000 15,549,722  4,200,000     1,950,000     1,950,000     1,950,000      25,599,722  17,850,000 

$7,749,722 for electric vehicles replacing diesels; assuming 

replacement of all vehicle past service life

Incline Drive Technology 75,000 - 75,000          500,000        500,000        - - 1,075,000     1,000,000 

Incline Elevator - Replacement at the Upper Station - - - 100,000        - - - 100,000        100,000 

Incline Engineering Services 40,000 - 40,000          40,000          40,000          40,000          40,000            200,000        160,000 

Incline Fence - Replacement at Incline Lower Station 30,000 - 30,000          - - - - 30,000          - 

Incline Floor Covering at the Upper Station 50,000 - 50,000          - - - - 50,000          - 

Incline Fuel Rocket Light 4,000 - 4,000             - - - - 4,000             - 

Incline Generator for Cable Cut 4,500 - 4,500             - - - - 4,500             - 

Incline Handrails - Painted at the Upper Station 30,000 - 30,000          - - - - 30,000          - 

Incline Misc. Bridge & Track Work - - - - 150,000        150,000        - 300,000        300,000 

Incline Platform - Replaced at the Lower Station 25,000 - 25,000          - - - - 25,000          - 

Incline Rail Replacement Along Entire Track 330,000 - 330,000        630,000        480,000        480,000        - 1,920,000     1,590,000 

Incline Repaint Lower Station 40,000 - 40,000          - - - - 40,000          - 

Incline Sheave Replacement 40,000 - 40,000          40,000          10,000          10,000          10,000            110,000        70,000 

Incline Spot Replacment of Ties Along Entire Track - - - 200,000        - - - 200,000        200,000 

Incline Timber and Stone Repairs (Trestles 2-6) 150,000 - 150,000        - - - - 150,000        - 

Incline Trestle 1 Repairs - - - 100,000        - - - 100,000        100,000 

IT Cabling 20,000 - 20,000          - - - - 20,000          - 

IT Computer Replacements 20,000 - 20,000          20,000          20,000          20,000          20,000            100,000        80,000 

IT Computer Stations for Operations & Maintenance (8) 12,500 - 12,500          - - - - 12,500          - 

IT Cradlepoint Replacement - 200,000 200,000        10,000          10,000          10,000          10,000            240,000        240,000 

IT Server Replacement - - - - 200,000        - - 200,000        200,000 

IT Switches, ASA, miscellaneous hardware (5 Years) 25,000 - 25,000          25,000          25,000          25,000          25,000            125,000        100,000 

Maintenance Air Compressor - Shop Service Truck 4,000 - 4,000             - - - - 4,000             - 

Maintenance Bench Grinder 2,000 - 2,000             - - - - 2,000             - 

Maintenance Fuel Management System 24,570 - 24,570          11,340          12,000          12,000          12,000            71,910          47,340 

Maintenance Fuel Meter - Service Lane 500 - 500 - - - - 500 - 

Maintenance Generators for Shop and Bus Barn 200,000 - 200,000        - - - - 200,000        - 

Maintenance High Lift Wheelpull 6,000 - 6,000             6,000             - 

Maintenance Maintenance Bus Vacuum 250,000 - 250,000        - - - - 250,000        - 

Maintenance Maintenance Replacement Lifts (2) 90,000 - 90,000          - - - - 90,000          - 

Maintenance Replacement Shelving for Store Room - 100,000 100,000        150,000        250,000        250,000 

Maintenance Sprinkler Replacement - - - 500,000        - - - 500,000        500,000 

Maintenance Tire Changer 22,000 - 22,000          - - - - 22,000          - 

Parking Sealing at Shuttle Park North - 370,000 370,000        370,000        370,000 

Planning Business Services 50,000 150,000 200,000        50,000          50,000          50,000          50,000            400,000        350,000 

Planning Design & Construction Services 100,000 - 100,000        300,000        50,000          50,000          50,000            550,000        450,000 

Planning Transit Facility Assessment & Design 75,000 - 75,000          50,000          50,000          50,000          50,000            275,000        200,000 

Planning Transit Management Support 50,000 50,000 100,000        50,000          50,000          50,000          50,000            300,000        250,000 

Planning Transit Operations & Service Planning 1,325,000 300,000 1,625,000     50,000          50,000          50,000          50,000            1,825,000     500,000 

Planning Transit Safety, Training, and Security 100,000 - 100,000        60,000          60,000          60,000          60,000            340,000        240,000 

Planning Transit Technology Support 200,000 - 200,000        60,000          60,000          60,000          60,000            440,000        240,000 

Planning Transit Vehicles & Maintenance Support 50,000 - 50,000          50,000          50,000          50,000          50,000            250,000        200,000 

47



 2026-2030 Capital Budget

Item Department Project Funding Allocated 2026 Remaining Needed 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 Total Remaining Needed Notes

Planning Workforce Development 50,000 50,000 100,000        50,000          50,000          50,000          50,000            300,000        250,000 

Shuttle Autonomous Vehicle Kit (1) - 400,000 400,000        - - - - 400,000        400,000 

Shuttle Maintenance Lifts (2) 90,000 - 90,000          - - - - 90,000          - 

Shuttle Shuttle Park North Passenger Amenities - 20,000 20,000          20,000          20,000          20,000          20,000            100,000        100,000 

Shuttle Shuttle Park South Passenger Amenities - 20,000 20,000          20,000          20,000          20,000          20,000            100,000        100,000 

Shuttle Traction Battery Replacement - 50,000 50,000          50,000          100,000        100,000 

Shuttle Vehicle Expansion (3) - 1,000,000 1,000,000     - - - - 1,000,000     1,000,000 

Shuttle Vehicle Replacement (14) - 14,856,079 14,856,079  14,856,079  14,856,079 Low-No/Bus grant opportunity

Training Bus Simulator - 300,000 300,000        - - - - 300,000        300,000 

Training Learning Management System 18,000 - 18,000          20,000          22,500          22,500          22,500            105,500        87,500 

Total 14,152,644 43,425,446 57,578,090  11,605,012  5,807,131     5,516,030     5,136,030      85,642,293  71,489,649 

48



Agenda Item 9D
March 20, 2025 

TO: CARTA Board of Directors  

CARTA Executive Committee 

FROM: Scott Wilson  

Chief of Staff 

SUBJECT:       Approval of Fiscal Year (FY) 2026 Operating Budget 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

Staff recommends that the Board approve the preliminary operating budget for fiscal year 2026. 

ALIGNMENT WITH STRATEGIC GOALS 

This action aligns with CARTA's strategic imperatives of Fiscal Accountability and Transparency. 

SUMMARY OF NEED 

Approval of this item will allow CARTA to submit the preliminary operating budget for year ending 

6/30/2026 to the City of Chattanooga and Hamilton County municipalities for contribution requests. 

BACKGROUND AND HISTORY 

Annually, staff develops the operating budget based on the prior year's activity and planned areas of 

improvement. The preliminary suggested budget of $32,739,818 represents a 9.55% increase from last 

year and utilizes $974,765 of ARPA funds. This budget includes various improvements and revenue 

increases. 

Key expense changes include: 

• Health insurance increase of 5%

• Workers compensation insurance increase of 8%

• Key positions including IT Specialist, Planning Manager, Service Supervisors, Customer Service

Manager, Customer Service Representatives, and others

• Service enhancements including Secret Shopper Service and Incline Brush Removal Services

• 3% cost of living adjustment for employees.

Key revenue adjustments include: 

• City of Chattanooga request of $1.3 million (15% above FY25)

• Hamilton County request for Fixed Route and Care-A-Van support

• Red Bank request for Care-A-Van support

• Est Ridge request for Care-A-Van support

• Care-A-Van fare increases ranging between $.50 - $1.50

• Carta GO fare increase ranging between $.50 - $1.50

• Parking revenue increase ranging between <-$.50> - $.50

• Incline fare increase of $3 for adults, with no increase for children 
FISCAL IMPACT

$32,739,818 balanced operating budget for the year ending 6/30/2026.

49



PRELIMINARY OPERATING BUDGET

Fixed Route Incline Care-A-Van Shuttle Parking Total 2025 Budget Change

OPERATING REVENUE

Passenger Revenue 1,267,824     5,652,471   128,204           8,080            - 7,056,579 5,840,916      1,215,663    20.81% Fare adjustments (Incline, Care-A-Van, CARTA Go)
Special Route Guarantee 586,188        -              - -                -              586,188 571,687         14,501         2.54% Increace in UT Mocs contract
Advertising Revenue 158,410        -              - -                -              158,410        153,410         5,000           3.26% COA bus bench advertising
Concession Revenue - 312,436 - -                -              312,436        312,436         - 0.00% Incline concessions sales
Parking Garage Revenue - - - 1,779,740     - 1,779,740 1,650,200      129,540       7.85% Based on actual annualized
Parking Lots Revenue - 228,000 - -                1,185,596   1,413,596 1,219,598      193,997       15.91% Based on actual annualized
Parking Meters Revenue - -              - -                2,729,640   2,729,640 2,064,000      665,640       32.25% Meter pricing adjustments
Parking Enforcement Revenue - -              - -                1,400,000   1,400,000 1,340,000      60,000         4.48%
Rent Revenue 14,400          -              - 88,962          - 103,362 103,137         225              0.22% River City, Coca Cola, Shift, Parking
PM & Unit Overhaul - State 421,789        42,520        15,898             -                -              480,206 472,179         8,027           1.70% Increase due to FTA grant increases
PM & Unit Overhaul - Federal 3,514,905     354,330      132,484           -                -              4,001,719     3,934,828      66,891         1.70% Increase due to FTA grant increases
American Rescue Plan 974,765        -              - -                974,765        2,085,532      (1,110,767)   -53.26% Residual ARPA funding
FTA/Federal Grants & Reimb Revenu 172,161        41,600        612,777           -                -              826,538        860,431         (33,892)        -3.94%
State Grants & Reimb Revenue 7,698            3,623          54,098             -                -              65,418          69,030           (3,612)          -5.23% Decrease due to State 10% matching FTA grant
Local Operating Assistance 7,956,000     - 422,360 -                -              8,378,360     6,300,000      2,078,360    32.99% Requests to County ($583k), City ($1,3M), Red Bank ($20k), East Ridge ($130k)
State Operating Assistance 2,105,629     -              - -                -              2,105,629     2,548,220      (442,591)      -17.37% Derease due to State formula based on census
Planning (JARC) 347,521        -              - -                -              347,521        341,712         5,809           1.70% Increase due to FTA grant increases

Other Operating Revenue 6,076            9,659          - - 3,976          19,711          19,584           127              0.65% Interest, Tower and Antenna

Total Operating Revenue 17,533,365   6,644,638   1,365,821        1,876,782     5,319,212   32,739,819   29,886,901    2,852,918    9.55%

OPERATING EXPENSES

Operations 11,848,811   1,126,804   3,405,506        1,034,146     138,337      17,553,604   15,863,526    1,690,079    10.65%
Maintenance 4,289,829     681,622      262,357           1,259,249     116,408      6,609,464     6,323,923      285,542       4.52%
General Administration 3,483,458     1,182,403   661,243           588,077        2,661,570   8,576,750     7,699,452      877,297       11.39%

Total Operating Expenses 19,622,098   2,990,829   4,329,105        2,881,471     2,916,315   32,739,818   29,886,901    2,852,918    9.55%

Net Operating Revenue (2,088,733)    3,653,809   (2,963,284)      (1,004,689)    2,402,897   0 (0) - 

JULY 1, 2025 TO JUNE 30, 2026
CHATTANOOGA AREA REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY

50



Dept Category of Impact
PRELIMINARY OPERATING BUDGET

123,316     All Employee Benefits Version I
45,403       All Insurance Version I

2,227          All Insurance Version I
25,064       All Insurance Version I

408,513     ALL Wages Version I
136,682     ALL Wages Version I

71,926       71 Wages Version I
152,120     ALL Employee Benefits Version I

70,000       03 Administration Version I
20,000       01 Fixed Route Version IV
50,000       94 Incline Version D

345,112     43 Parking Version I
130,000     01 Fixed Route Version II

70,000       01 Fixed Route Version IV
68,565       02 Maintenance Version II
55,000       01 Fixed Route Version E
55,000       71 Care-A-Van Version E
56,581       81 Shuttle Version D
55,000       71 Care-A-Van Version II
45,000       73 Care-A-Van Version II
80,000       03 Administration Version IV
95,000       03 Administration Version IV
75,000       03 Administration Version IV
45,000       03 Administration Version II

204,631     Version II

1,345,000  01 Fixed Route Version II
311,000     01 Fixed Route Version D
272,720     71 Care-A-Van Version D

28,568       71 Care-A-Van Version D
12,936       71 Care-A-Van Version IV
92,664       71 Care-A-Van Version IV
20,000       71 Care-A-Van Version D

105,000     01 Fixed Route Version IV
1,500          01 Special Route Guarantee Version IV

974,765     01 Fixed Route Version IV
5,940          71 Care-A-Van Version A

450,640     43 Parking Version E

Budget Changes
FY2026

All Expenses:
Health Insurance 5%
Workers compensation Insurance 8%
PL & PD Insurance 5% 
Auto Liability Insurance 5%
Employee 3% Cost of Living Adjustment (COLA)
Employee 1% carryover from 2025 negotations
Care-A-Van driver adjustments from 2025 negotations
Taxes and Pension
IT Management Services
Secret Shopper Service
Incline Brush Removal Services
Parking collection 
Fixed Route FT Dispatchers (2) - coverage for all service hours
Safety & Training Supervisor (1) - coverage for all service hours
Electric Vehicle Specialist FT (1) - necessary for battery electric bus inventory
Road Supervisor FT (1) - coverage for all service hours
Road Supervisor FT (1) - coverage for all service hours
Shuttle Operator FT (1) - minor service expansion
Information Operator Care-A-Van FT (1) - required for ADA/Paratransit scheduling compliance
One Receptionist Care-A-Van FT (1) - coverage for consolidated microtransit / paratransit call center
Planning Manager FT (1) 
IT Specialist FT (1)
Customer Service Manager FT (1) 
Community Outreach Specialist Bilingual FT (1) 
Taxes and Pension

Revenue Adjustments
City of Chattanooga Request
Hamilton County Request
Hamilton County Request
Projection for increased Care-A-Van fare changes ranging from $.50 to $1.50 
Projection for increased Care-A-Van for Red Bank to direct cost
Projection for increased Care-A-Van for East Ridge to direct cost
Projection for increased Care-A-Van Premium same-day countywide service pilot (contingent on HC) 
Projection for increased Carta GO fare changes ranging from $.50 to $1.50
Projection for increased Chatt State contract increase of 10%
ARPA Funds
Projections for increased Care-A-Van (Regional) fare changes ranging from $1.00 to $2.00 (Red Bank/East Ridge) 
Projection for increased Parking rate changes ranging from minus $.50 to $.50 based on zone utilization 
Projection for increased Incline Fares of $3 for adults only (no change to youth tickets) 335,995     91 Incline Version E

51


	0 - 03-20-25 CARTA Board Agenda
	6 - Board Meeting Minutes 02.20.25(40002924.2)
	6 - Executive Committee Meeting Minutes - March 7
	8A - Board Memo - Statistical Report
	8A1 - Board Statistical Report February 2025
	8A2 - February 2023 2024 2025 Year to Year comparison of ridership
	8A3 - February 2023 2024 2025 Year to Year comparison of ridership
	9A - Board Memo - Updated Purchasing Policy
	9A1 - Purchasing Policy Updated Pages
	9B - Board Memo - Procurement Report
	9C - Board Memo - Capital Budget
	9C1_Capital Plan 2026-2030
	9D Operating Budget Memo



